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PHC:  MAIL Bus Park – Pvt Plan Change Request 06.08.15 

  [11.01 am] 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Good morning.  Just before I hand over to Judge Hassan 

who will be chairing this particular hearing, for the submitters who 

have not been involved in this process previously the purpose of a pre-5 

trial hearing is to make directions regarding the filing of evidence and 

submissions to narrow issues if that is possible today, and also make 

directions around mediation and conferencing and to set out the 

directions that affect the hearing. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Good morning everyone, we will quickly just take a 

record of appearances.  Mr Winchester for the Council. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Sir. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Christensen for MAIL.  Ms Steven for McVicar. 

 

MS STEVEN:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Carranceja for the Crown. 20 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Williams for the Airport. 

 25 

MR WILLIAMS:  Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  So other appearances? 

 

MS ROBINSON:   Jamie Robinson for the Commodore Airport Hotel. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Robinson. 

 

SJH:   What firm are you from? 

 35 

MS ROBINSON:   Duncan Cotterill.  

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Other appearances, Mr Phillips, is he here?  40 

Mr Phillips, you are for Avon, Andrew (ph 1.44) Centre and Scentre 

New Zealand Limited. 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   That is correct. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Other parties? 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Professor Bagchi from Avonhead Community 

Group. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you, could you just say your name again? 5 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Professor Bagchi from Avonhead Community 

Group. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  All right, so any other submitters?  All right.  10 

Okay, well, if we just step through the issues that we want to cover off.  

There is an issues document I understand has been submitted by both 

MAIL as the promoter of the initial plan change and the Council.  Now, 

in your memorandum, Mr Christensen, you asked for leave to amend 

the scope of MAIL’s submission in order to bring alignment with 15 

where things are now at in terms of stage 2 in essence.  Does anyone 

take any issue with that?  All right, well, leave can be granted for that. 

 

 I wonder whether the next time might be to look quickly at the 

Council’s issues document and just test some issues as to scope of what 20 

we might be dealing with in terms of issues in contention.  So both that 

memorandum of yours of 3 August, Mr Winchester, and also yours, 

Mr Christensen, are included in attached red lined track change version 

and I understand the Council’s one was the initial one, Mr Winchester? 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   That is correct, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And that has been marked up again by Mr Christensen. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir.   30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So just to clarify, is it the Council’s position that the track 

change version that it submitted effectively represents what the Council 

does not oppose? 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   That is its prime position, sir, yes, and there have been 

discussions between the Council and MAIL about the detail of the plan 

change and also about the process issues which are identified in both 

memoranda.  So what is attached is annexure D to the Council’s 

memorandum is the Council’s current position and the position it will 40 

advance in evidence. 



 Page 3 

  

PHC:  MAIL Bus Park – Pvt Plan Change Request 06.08.15 

  [11.05 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So when it comes to the statement of issues 

which is set out in accordance with the Panel’s request that the Council 

do this, some 30 issues there. 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is it right for us to understand that those aren’t all issues 

that the Council contends or opposes, it is just effectively the Council’s 10 

attempt to reflect what are the live issues for consideration? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, it is a global statement of issues arising from 

submissions. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And out of the discussions that have occurred between 

the Council and MAIL. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and in terms of the discussions you mentioned that 

were occurring with MAIL and we have got MAIL’s update on the 

Council track change version with blue changes showing MAIL’s 

position as against the Council’s position in its memorandum, what are 

the chances that the Council will be updating its position any further, is 25 

that likely Mr Winchester? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   It is possible, sir, but I think given the discussions that 

have taken place and the advice from the experts that has been received 

there is probably not that much room for movement at this stage, 30 

particularly around quantum of office and retail and some of those 

issues of detail around permitted activities.  There may be room for 

movement and clarification around some of the other rules relating to 

bulk and location, setbacks and those sorts of things. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just on the matter of offices, I was interested in that 

particular topic, it has obviously been the subject of some evidence in 

the previous proposals we have now heard including on commercial 

and industrial.  And the proposal I think allows for permitted activity 

status for offices within certain parameters or what the Council’s 40 

position on that, potentially allowing for professional offices so does 

the Council have any position on that? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   The Council’s position, as there was an omission from 

the Council’s memorandum about its position on office and that is 45 

identified in my learned friend, Mr Christensen’s, memorandum at 
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paragraph 8B, and the Council’s position is that up to 5,000 square 

metres of office can be permitted. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 5 

MR WINCHESTER:   So that was an omission and it has been clarified. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  Well, I think having got that clarified, is there 

anything further you want to raise about anything there, 

Mr Christensen?  Thank you, Mr Winchester. 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. Sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think I will just go around the other parties and now test 

the sort of scope of issues and evidence intended to be called perhaps 15 

starting with you, Mr Christensen. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, sir.  There is just two issues arising from that 

memorandum.  First I couldn’t add in paragraphs 8A, sir, the total 

being sought is 9,000 square metres of retail not 6 as recorded there. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   And then it was helpfully identified by the Crown 

yesterday in some discussions, again a confusion arising from a 25 

proposal for a controlled activity status for buildings within 50 metres 

of Memorial Avenue which is rule 16.4.7.1.2.  I don’t have a page 

number. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, we probably don’t need to get into too much 30 

specifics in terms of this yet. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   I just want to confirm that the controlled activity status 

is sought for buildings between 10 metres setback and 50 metres not 

right to the road. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   It requires just a slight amendment to that. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, which is consistent with the outline plan position that 

has been put by MAIL. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes. 

 45 



 Page 5 

  

PHC:  MAIL Bus Park – Pvt Plan Change Request 06.08.15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay.  All right, well, I think perhaps if we just work 

around the other parties and just get some clarification of the likely 

issues in dispute and I think probably starting with the Crown, 

Mr Carranceja? 

 5 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Sir, no additional comments on the issues that have 

been raised in the Council’s memorandum, sir.  Perhaps if you want an 

indication of witnesses I can give that now. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, alongside that if the parties could indicate their likely 10 

witnesses. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir, we are looking for a maximum of seven 

witnesses, sir, I can just tell you what the evidence will cover.  We will 

have planning evidence.  That is our first witness.  Our second witness, 15 

sir, will be an expert dealing with property floor areas. 

 

  [11.10 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Before we go any further Mr Carranceja, something which 20 

the Chair raised in the last pre-hearing meeting which I think I should 

probably say first off. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In terms of the Panel’s position, bearing in mind we have 

heard and I have just raised with Mr Winchester for instance, evidence 

that was heard in the Commercial and Industrial chapters.  We have 

heard evidence in other chapters.  It would be our expectation that 

parties who effectively do not resile from that evidence would simply 30 

cross reference and refer to that evidence in their evidence rather than 

repeating everything again and having to go through things that really 

are already addressed in evidence called by those parties. 

 

 So unless there are issues that are – effectively the evidence should 35 

concentrate on issues that are new and additional to that that has been 

raised in previous hearings by those parties. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 

 40 

SJH:   Even if they are not exactly the same witnesses as the previous hearing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, even if they are not the same witnesses, and on that 

particular matter we would ask also that parties note the observations 

we felt we should make in them, in the minute we issued on the New 45 

Neighbourhood zones about the importance of witnesses from the same 
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team properly communicating so that we do not have unnecessarily 

perhaps and I reserve judgement on that in regard to New 

Neighbourhood zones, but unnecessary differences arising in evidence 

when in fact communication might resolve those. 

 5 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So it is just a matter of efficiency that, bearing in mind 

this is an inquiry which has started with the first hearing and will not be 

concluded until the plan is effectively together, that these things are 10 

inter-related and that evidence we have heard is part of the record 

which we can and should consider. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well if you could carry on from there. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Absolutely, and sir, and this thing, these witnesses, we 

are very conscious of the need to cross refer to previous evidence and 

not repeat, sir.  So that would be tailored towards the proposal in 20 

providing (INDISTINCT 2.00) so, sorry if I can just go back to the 

list, sir.  The first witness we mention is a planner and that planner will 

cover the higher order documents relevant to this proposal.   

 

 I then mention a property floor area expert.  We will have another 25 

planner that is dealing more with the detail, sir, including matters such 

as amenity and landscape.  With regards to traffic issues, sir, we are 

having a traffic engineer.  We will also have an operations person from 

the NZTA regarding state highway issues.   

 30 

 We will have a third planner, sir.  That planner will cover NZTA 

specific issues and also Fire Service specific issues and we are looking 

to have a brief statement also from the New Zealand Fire Service 

representative, Mr Alan Merry.   

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, well I mean that is obviously one particularly 

category of evidence where we have heard at different hearings and it 

would be really good to just try to trim to what is relevant for this by 

way of differences. 

 40 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, thank you. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And that is all, sir. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you. You mentioned the NZTA and I have 

previously recorded my previous role for the NZTA which is a matter 

of record here.  Obviously in accordance with the usual processes we 

would expect parties to raise any issues if they had any by way of the 

positions that members have had, associations and other things. 5 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  At this stage I don’t, well I have to wait, I’ll reserve 

judgement until I have seen the evidence as to whether or not there is 10 

any issue for me. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So thank you Mr Carranceja.  Perhaps moving 15 

to you, Ms Steven. 

 

MS STEVEN:   Yes, thank you, sir.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I probably should have called on you first, I am sorry. 20 

 

MS STEVEN:   No that is all right.  The McVicar’s Trust is a submitter on the 

MAIL plan change request but it is not a submitter on the phase 2 

proposal.  And the reason why that is so, sir, is that they were not aware 

of it.  Mr McVicar is now deceased.  I was not aware of it myself until I 25 

read these memoranda yesterday on my return from Timaru from a 

hearing. 

 

 I had a quick discussion with counsel and my instructions from my 

instructing solicitor, who is also a trustee, is to seek leave to file either 30 

an original submission or a further submission in relation to phase two 

once I have had the opportunity to look at it and decide whether the 

Trust is prejudiced of the fact that it is not a submitter on that part. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 35 

 

MS STEVEN:   I am - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, just on that point - - - 

 40 

MS STEVEN:   - - - essentially the verge. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS STEVEN:   And that the Industrial chapter has effectively superseded the 45 

plan change request and I just want to be satisfied in my own mind that 
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the subject matter of the submissions and the further submissions that 

were lodged that really address the topics, that are the subject of 

submissions and the content of phase 2, the Industrial chapter. 

 

  [11.15 am] 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Christenson, so just bearing in mind the leave granted 

to you on the basis that things have moved on. 

 

MR CHRISTENSON:   Yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can you signal at this stage whether or not your client has 

a position in regard to a late submission? 

 

MR CHRISTENSON:   No, we wouldn’t take any opposition for that. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  All right well it may well be the proper course 

would be to lodge a leave application with – I think that is probably the 

best way of doing it so that we have a clear jurisdictional basis, 

obviously an application for leave accompanied by the submission that 20 

the leave application is sought to be made for. 

 

MS STEVEN:   Yes, that is what I will be intending to do, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you know when you can have that? 25 

 

MS STEVEN:   And just to, well in terms of timeframe I can have that done by 

Wednesday and I know that there is witness caucusing that is going to 

commencing on Monday, but I can say if any discreet issue that the 

Trust has in relation to this plan change, and that is really just to ensure 30 

that the underlying zoning provisions don’t replicate the constraints 

that are to be imposed by the designation in relation to the REPA. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 

 35 

MS STEVEN:   And I would be confining the Trust case to legal submissions.  

We would not call in an expert. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you won’t have someone that would, in other words, 

need to be given leave to attend expert conferencing? 40 

 

MS STEVEN:   No. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  On the basis that your position is reserved on your 

submission until we make the decision.  Mr Winchester, probably I 45 
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should ask you, do you think the Council would have any issue with the 

late submission? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Well no, sir. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I do not want to put you in a position if you have not got 

instructions. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  No, I have had a discussion with Ms Steven this morning 

about it and on the basis that it is not going to interrupt or it seems 10 

unlikely to interrupt the timetable as far as expert caucusing is 

concerned, it is really just, given the way this matter has moved on, I 

think it is appropriate and fair that Ms Steven has the opportunity to 

closely consider the issue.  He client was notified of the stage 2 

proposal but obviously for the reasons explained it has not made its 15 

way through the system.  So there is no failing in terms of notification, 

it is really just circumstances. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  No, there is no criticism of the Council it is 

obviously a matter of whether or not there is any prejudice, particularly 20 

for any other party, I would have thought.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, well I will hear from other parties on that but the 

Council does not oppose the course proposed by my learned friend. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay.  Now Mr Williams I should ask you, if you are 

not in a position to say, just say that. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Probably my only concern would be the extent to which the 

clarification of this submission or the original submission was extended 30 

in this process and just ensuring we had a right to comment on any 

further issues that were raised.  My understanding is that it is 

effectively just the original submission being brought through into this 

current process. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay so we reserve the position until you send the 

application. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   That is right. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  And I take it the Crown would be neutral, 

Mr Carranceja? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Neutral, sir. 

 45 



 Page 10 

  

PHC:  MAIL Bus Park – Pvt Plan Change Request 06.08.15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  All right, so I think you have covered all the 

issues, Ms Steven? 

 

MS STEVENS:   Yes. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So moving through probably Mr Williams is 

next. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Yes, no further comment on the issue, sir.  I have actually 

provided a memorandum for the Secretariat with all the Chapman Tripp 10 

clients if you like and a suggested outline of the witnesses for each. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, thank you. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   I am happy to make a copy of that available to you to avoid 15 

replicating this. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I think I might have might have missed it in the – 

perhaps it is in the second volume.   

 20 

MR WILLIAMS:   It is just simply, sir, I am happy to make – I have got 

another couple of copies if you would like. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 25 

MR WILLIAMS:   It simply attaches a table in chapter order with the MAIL 

private plan change at the end.  For this matter it would simply be a 

planner, a traffic expert and a wastewater/storm water expert and an 

economic/retail expert, so four experts. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are you in a position to say now what in essence, 

obviously I have not re-read the Airport submission so I am a little bit 

foggy on it.  Effectively the Airport’s current position as a whole on the 

plan change, and is it a targeted submission or? 

 35 

MR WILLIAMS:   It is relatively targeted sir, just really ensuring consistency. 

 

SJH:   Is it as an operator or a property developer, Mr Williams? 

 

  [11.20 am] 40 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Aspects of both, sir, to be frank. Mainly as an operator for 

the airport, particularly the likes of the REPA issue that my friend 

referred to, just ensuring that they are ironed out appropriately.  

 45 



 Page 11 

  

PHC:  MAIL Bus Park – Pvt Plan Change Request 06.08.15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So from your point of view, bearing in mind the nature of 

the airport’s case, you don’t have any issue with the timing estimate for 

the hearing or anything like that? 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   No, the expert briefs would be very specific and just 5 

focused on the MAIL particular, MAIL focused issues. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. I see from your witness list you don’t 

propose, at this stage, to call a client representative, and I presume that 

is on the basis of the targeted nature of the airport’s case? 10 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   That is right, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the fact that evidence is already in on that. 

 15 

MR WILLIAMS:   That is right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much. Now, moving on to perhaps 

Mr Phillips? No, beg your pardon, Ms Robinson. 

 20 

MS ROBINSON:   The Commodore is comfortable with the scope of issues 

that have been outlined by the Council and has identified two witnesses 

that will be appearing at the conferencing on Monday, that’s a transport 

or traffic expert and a design amenity expert. We will also be calling a 

planner, as well as having one of the owners of the Commodore as a 25 

submitter giving evidence as well. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. Anything further? 

 

MS ROBINSON:   No thanks, thank you, sir. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. Thanks, Ms Robinson. Just probably now 

working to Mr Phillips on behalf of your various clients, Mr Phillips, 

just speak to the whole lot. 

 35 

MS PHILLIPS:   Thank you. Issues five, and to a lesser degree six, and issue 

seven, so that’s retail and office activity and guest accommodation are 

the live issues for Scentre, Andrew Centre and Avon Hotel. The 

intention is to rely, at this stage, on Council and Crown witnesses, 

though that may yet change and otherwise planning evidence will be 40 

presented.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So do I take from that that Scentre doesn’t take an 

approach of, in principle, different from the Council on the question of 

offices? 45 
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MS PHILLIPS:   Correct.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, and retail, is that right? 

 

MS PHILLIPS:   Correct, yes. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. All right, now, yes, Professor - - - 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you, sir. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, the main concern from the Avonhead 

Community Group is about the demarcation of the zone change of the 

MAIL site from the present zoning to the industrial because we believe 15 

that Russley Road needs to be a neat barrier for the industry and 

residential, so that’s our one of the major concern, in which you have 

already taken into your discussion in the hearing process in future.  

 

 The next about the infrastructure, about the infrastructure we have 20 

highlighted that there was an Environment Court judgement where it 

was very clearly mentioned that until the time the infrastructure, like 

the storm water drainage, wastewater drainage and the main trunks 

would be upgraded there would be no further development in this area, 

both in MAIL site and in - - - 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Bagchi, just to pause you there, and I appreciate this is 

a – you may not be familiar with all the trackings of this process, but 

what this Panel will do is we will have to look at everything on its 

merits, so in other words, if there’s a previous Environment Court 30 

decision that, on the evidence before it, came to a certain view, we may 

look at it, it may be relevant for us to consider it, but you shouldn’t 

assume that we would be feeling ourselves held by it, because we’re 

not, our duty is to look at these issues afresh on the evidence that we 

hear, and obviously different parties have indicated they intend to call 35 

expert evidence on these topics. So from your association’s point of 

view, is there evidence that you intend to lead on these matters? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, sir, we accept your advice and we will present 

it in due course. What I was trying to enumerate the concern, sir, about 40 

the infrastructure, one thing which we wanted to point out that here the 

infrastructure has been placed in discussion and future hearing, but 

traffic and transport, we wanted to make it a separate issue for a future 

hearing if you could kindly include it, it’s there only, the transport, but 

the traffic portion is our prime concern because Avonhead Road will be 45 

affected. 
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  [11.25 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, coming back again to this thing, so what we’re 

tasked with on this matter is to look at this plan change and all of the 5 

elements that relate to it, all of the evidence, including traffic and the 

effects on Memorial Avenue and the effects on Russley Road and all of 

those things, on the basis of the evidence that we hear for this particular 

hearing, and then to come to make a decision on this topic. So, your 

association needs to take cognisance of that and prepare its case on that 10 

understanding.  

 

 We’re got traffic evidence being delivered in, I think, tomorrow, so 

we’ve already had an inquiry into the topic of traffic and transportation 

and a decision on that is very close, you should look at that when it 15 

comes out. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right, sir. We will attend that session also, and 

that’s all we wanted to say. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well, that hearing has already occurred and a 

decision is about to issue. So coming back to this particular inquiry 

where you are a submitter and you have a right to present your case, 

can you tell me what evidence you intend to call, what topics do you 

intend to call evidence on and are there relevant expert witnesses 25 

you’re calling like traffic and transport and other? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, so we have had a number of references from 

the New Zealand Transport and different studies what we have been 

able to get it under the Official Information Act, so we will make those 30 

as an evidence and we will present that, what will be the traffic volume 

- - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, now, you know the Transport Agency, as 

Mr Carranceja has indicated, one of their witness areas is calling the 35 

New Zealand Transport Agency witness. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So do you think you might have questions and issues you 40 

may want to raise with the Transport Agency? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   We will, we will, sir, we will definitely raise 

questions on those. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. So that will be one of the things you can do, is in 

regard to evidence that’s called, you can call your own evidence and 

you can question the witnesses that others call, including in this case 

the Transport Agency evidence. 

 5 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right, sir. We will do that, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If there are documents that you have which relate to what 

you consider relevant, you may wish to consider whether you put those 

to those witnesses in questioning.  10 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   We will bring those documents, sir, what we have 

gathered under the Official Information Act. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 15 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right, sir.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, thank you, Professor. 

 20 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So did I hear from that that you will be putting documents 

to witnesses, are you calling any witnesses on behalf of the association? 

 25 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, as the proceeding goes we will decide 

accordingly. At the moment, sir, we will reserve our right 

(INDISTINCT 3.27) witnesses, we will bring them. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Have you given any prior thought to this though, because 30 

at this pre-hearing meeting all parties come along expected to inform 

the Panel so the Panel can make proper preparations for how long the 

hearing is going to take and so forth, and there have been estimates 

given of that, it’s all based on what we understand by way of which 

witnesses are being called and so forth. Has your association given 35 

thought to witnesses it wants to call for the hearing? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, we will not be bringing any experts, sir, 

because you would appreciate that as an association it is  a purely 

voluntary body, we don’t have that much of fund to get expert opinion, 40 

but whatever the documentary evidences and whatever the evidences 

we have collected, we will present and not more than 45 minutes to one 

hour we would require when our time comes. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. No, I understand that. So that sounds like the 

association doesn’t take any issue with the estimate that’s been given 

for the hearing by the Council.  

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, okay. Now, you’re sitting alongside the friend of 

submitter and have you been in touch with a friend of submitter on 

everything because effectively he is able to help you on any procedural 

issues, any questions you may have about process, he’s there for that.  10 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   We will do that, sir. Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you very much, Professor. 

 15 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you for your advice. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. So are there any other parties that wanted to 

raise any issues? All right, coming back to you, Mr Winchester? 

 20 

  [11.30 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, probably one thing I should have mentioned at the 

outset and it relates to the question of conflicts or perception of 

conflicts and I think it is appropriate I just advise the Panel and the 25 

parties to this.  This proposal about the Council’s proposed planning 

witness who is Janice Carter, who is an employee of GHD Limited.  It 

has become apparent that there is an expert for the applicant, Memorial 

Avenue Investments, from the same company on a different subject 

matter, Mr Stephen Douglas who is presenting evidence on 30 

groundwater and contamination issues.  I don’t believe there is a 

conflict per se.  The Council doesn’t take issue with the assessment of 

Mr Douglas but it is appropriate to notify the Panel and put that out 

there. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, thanks very much for bringing it forward, 

Mr Winchester, we appreciate that disclosure is healthy and public.  

Mr Christensen doesn’t look like he is about to stand up and object on 

the basis - - - 

 40 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   I am not. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Does anyone else take any issue with this?  

Obviously all expert witnesses have to give evidence in accordance 

with the code of conduct.  Ms Carter has given evidence a number of 45 



 Page 16 

  

PHC:  MAIL Bus Park – Pvt Plan Change Request 06.08.15 

times and is well familiar with that so I don’t see anyone raising any 

concerns.  Thanks very much for the disclosure, Mr Winchester. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so - - - 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Your Honour? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 10 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Just one further matter for the sake of completeness.  

MAIL lodged a submission on stage 1 of the replacement plan which 

contained a set of provisions and that has been superseded by the plan 

change and now stage 2 and I think it would be appropriate, sir, if that 15 

were simply withdrawn, which is appendix 1 to MAIL’s submission on 

stage 1. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so given this is being transcribed, we take that to 

be your application on which we can act? 20 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, sir.  It is. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  Now, I will just see if there are any other matters 

that need to be covered off.  I will give an opportunity to parties to raise 25 

any final matter.  So I take it parties are familiar with the fact that the 

facilitator for expert conferencing will be Mr Mills, Environment 

Commissioner Mills, and an Environment Commissioner has also been 

assigned to facilitate mediation if called upon.   

 30 

 So looking at the question of the timetable.  Mr Winchester, you 

proposed a timetable of expert conferencing for evidence-in-chief 

exchange on 26 August and on the basis that the Council and MAIL 

would exchange their evidence-in-chief at the same time? 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, I take it that that Council evidence, in effect it is the 

Council’s plan at this stage we are dealing with and I am just sort of 

thinking that through the plan change in a sense has been overtaken so - 40 

- - 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   It is there as a sort of construct in the background, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is in the background - - - 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Essentially it is - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - procedural (INDISTINCT 3.43) to make sure no one 

is prejudiced but nevertheless the lead pony in the race is the Council’s. 

 5 

MR WINCHESTER:   It is now, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, and so therefore the Council would normally 

take the burden of the accept or reject, accept in part disclosure by way 

of a schedule. 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And we would also appreciate in the evidence an update 

on the section 32 analysis on the basis of how things have moved on 15 

bearing in mind the Panel has got the ultimate role of having to 

evaluate matters under section 32 in its decision and it has to do that on 

the basis of the evidence that comes through.  So clearly it is important 

for that evidence to be covered off.  There is obviously extensive 

section 32 analysis associated with the initial plan change and 20 

presumably a section 32 report, which I haven’t yet read, from the 

Council on its provisions but some thought should be given to how that 

section 32 matter will be covered off in the evidence, do you agree with 

that? 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir, and - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Clearly for other parties to take issue with anything in it in 

their own evidence. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I think that is right and there is a provision for 

rebuttal evidence in the timetable and obviously that could be the 

opportunity for parties, certainly for the applicant MAIL, to raise 

anything specifically about the Council’s section 32 analysis but 

presumably it would also furnish evidence about section 32 to the 35 

extent it is seeking - - - 

 

  [11.35 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think that is right.  I think, Mr Christensen, you should 40 

also consider yourself subject to some expectation under section 32 

bearing in mind all matters are alive at this stage. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, sir. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And your evidence is coming in at the same stage as the 

Council but clearly you have got an opportunity now to think about the 

relative differences between your case and the Council’s case. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So we have already got a red line chapter, did I hear the 

parties say we would get an update?  I think you said, Mr Winchester, 

the position of the Council is relatively clear now as per its 3 August 

red line versions? 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and subject to conferencing on Monday of course 

where there is an opportunity to modify probably matters of detail I 

suspect. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so I think we can probably leave that at large 

and just confirm now that the evidence-in-chief date for the Council 

and MAIL will be Wednesday, 26 August. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Your proposal and I think it would seem to work subject 

to any parties’ positions, would be for submitters to then come in with 

their evidence on Thursday, 3 September.  Does anyone have any 

difficulty with that?  And then for there to be a rebuttal evidence stage 25 

including rebuttal of any submitter evidence on 8 September, that is 

Tuesday, 8 September.  In your note, Mr Winchester, I take it you were 

anticipating rebuttal in the normal sense of it being Council rebuttal? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Sir, yes. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is there any issue there in regard to MAIL exchanging 

evidence at the same stage as the Council? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   It probably should have been made clear that I think it 35 

probably should cover both Council and MAIL. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  I take it that would be your view, 

Mr Christensen? 

 40 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so for that rebuttal evidence date Tuesday, 

8 September being rebuttal on behalf of the Council and MAIL if any.  

Well, actually I am just looking at this a bit more clearly and I am 45 

wondering out loud whether we just allow that to apply to all 
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submitters for submitter rebuttal to come in at that stage as well, if any, 

of other submitter interests because effectively they are not all the 

same, do you agree with that? 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   I think that is appropriate, sir, particularly with Ms Steven 5 

clients particularly raising issues relevant to the airport, (INDISTINCT 

2.53) 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 10 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Sir, that would be the Crown’s preference as well as to 

have an opportunity to comment on other submitters’ evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right.  So notices of cross-examination proposed 

to be on 10 September.  That is Thursday, 10 September by midday, 15 

any issues?  All right, bearing in mind all parties should bear this in 

mind, Professor, just thinking about this too because I appreciate these 

processes might feel a bit foreign at times.  So if you want to question 

any witness of any party then, like anyone else, what you need to do is 

lodge a notice making a request because these processes under our 20 

Order in Council is such that it is not an automatic right that parties 

have to cross-examine, they have to ask for leave to do so.   

 

 So the hearing procedures documents which are on the website, the 

Panel’s documents, will explain all of this but you can take it from me 25 

if you want to question any of the witnesses put a notice of request in 

giving your reasons and giving effectively an estimate of time, which 

all parties do this as a matter of course.  Again talk to the Friend of 

Submitter if you are not sure, the Friend of Submitter can assist. 

 30 

 The Chair has just reminded me too that the default position is that you 

would expect only a 10 minute slot for cross-examination and so that 

leave request needs to indicate an estimate above or below that for 

particular witnesses.  Again it really helps the Panel to determine how 

each day is going to go and not to inconvenience parties by sitting 35 

around longer than they need to, it all helps everyone for that to be 

clear.  Is that okay? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 40 

SJH:   So if you needed longer than 10 minutes you say so in your application, 

okay? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right, sir, we will follow it up, thank you. 

 45 

SJH:   Thank you. 
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  [11.40 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the usual procedures apply in regard to other things, 

just to quickly cover these off, sorry, is that all clear?  All right.  So 5 

evidence is to be pre-circulated.  If it is served on the website by 3.00 

pm on the due date that serving obligation is deemed to be satisfied.  

The onus, though, of each party is to ensure service.  That onus does 

not shift to the Secretariat.  If evidence is not ready until after 3.00 pm 

it has to be served directly on everyone.   10 

 

 If there is any late filing of documents you need to be aware that these 

timeframes are serious so you have to ask for leave to file a late 

document.  I have covered that off with Ms Steven, you might have 

covered off the usual processes to file a document with the leave 15 

application so we can see everything together.   

 

 And I re-emphasise the importance of expert evidence being focussed 

on what are true issues for the party, not to reiterate evidence or recall 

but to cross reference it.  Not to be repetitive.   20 

 

 And when it comes to policy and planning documents or superior 

documents which we have to consider, bear in mind the Panel has seen 

these documents a number of times, it is pretty familiar with the 

content and so there is no need to provide a boiler plate expression of 25 

all of the planning instruments in the planning evidence.  Try to be 

more targeted than that if you can.  But I appreciate there are relevant 

planning issues including under the Regional Policy Statement to 

consider on this one. 

 30 

 Legal submissions, obviously keep them brief.  There is a time limit 

that would apply to those.  We typically have fulsome closings rather 

than fulsome openings.  The order will be for – just in terms of the 

order of case presentation I take it the order should be for the Council 

to present followed by the MAIL?  Do you think that is right, 35 

Mr Winchester?  And then followed by the other parties, perhaps those 

in support, those that are neutral and those in opposition. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I think given where we have got to, that is logical, 

sir. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And we are happy to proceed on that basis. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Do you agree with that? 
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MR……..:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So opening legals to be handed to the Panel secretariat on 

the day they can be considered on the (INDISTINCT 2.20).  If you are 5 

presenting and opening in person and the length of time is requested for 

that opening you need to be in touch with the Secretariat three working 

days beforehand.  Closing submissions, we will cover these off later 

but typically we may well allow for these to be filed after the hearing 

depending on how we are going.  We will test the waters on that a bit 10 

later on. 

 

 Okay, so the estimate of hearing time has been given as three days and 

from what I have heard that would seem to be a realistic estimate.   

 15 

 Are there any other issues anyone wants to raise?  All right.  Well 

thanks very much everyone, we will issue a minute with directions in it. 

 

ADJOURNED [11.43 am] 


